FILED

04-30-2021

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals Districe II of Appeals

20AP1981-CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Sergio Moises Ochoa Defendant-Appellant

> Appeal from The Circuit Court of Sheboygan County The Honorable Rebecca L. Persick, presiding

Brief of Appellant Sergio Moises Ochoa

Steven Roy Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin State Bar No. 1115155 1310 O'Keeffe Ave. #315 Sun Prairie, WI 53590 608.571.4732 Steven@stevenroylaw.com

Statement of the Issues

Mr. Ochoa presents three issues for this court to consider. Did the circuit court deprive Mr. Ochoa of his constitutional right to present a defense, did the circuit court abuse its discretion when it refused to allow Mr. Ochoa to testify regarding a nonhearsay statement, and did the jury instructions given by the circuit court accurately state the law of self defense.

This court should find the circuit court: deprived Mr. Ochoa of his constitutional right to present evidence in his defense, abused its discretion as it failed to accurately interpret the law regarding non-hearsay statements, and failed to accurately instruct the jury on the law central to the case.

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

Mr. Ochoa takes no position as to whether this case merits oral argument. Should this court request it, Mr. Ochoa welcomes the opportunity to further discuss his case with this court.

Mr. Ochoa requests publication. Any reversal of this magnitude warrants publication. Further, this case presents the opportunity to summarize multiple areas of law, and would be the first published case to address the constitutional right to present expert witnesses after the adoption of the *Daubert* standard for expert witnesses.

Statement of Facts

Sergio Ochoa was born in Los Angles California. (R.494:4). When he was one, his parents moved back to Guadalajara in Mexico. (R.494:4). In Mexico, his family ran a beef and dairy farm. (R.494:4-5). Sergio's extended family began teaching him about firearms as a young teenager; they would practice shooting every week. (R. 494:6). Sergio would continue his firearms training and practice as an adult, joining shooting clubs and

Page 6 of 36

learning about self-defense. (R.494:13-16). Sergio would go on to become a licensed concealed carry owner, practicing shooting no less than once a week, and began to pass his family's traditions of responsible firearm ownership to his children. (R. 494:36-44). Sergio would go on to become a licensed concealed carry owner, practicing shooting no less than once a week, and began to pass his family's traditions of responsible firearm ownership to his children. (R. 494:36-44).

On most weekends growing up, Sergio would go to rodeos with his family. (R.494:7). Most of the time, Sergio would see his cousin L.G. and L.G.'s. friend F.L.. (R.494:7-8). At the time, Sergio and L.G. were not particularly close. (R. 494:7-8). At the rodeo's and other community events, Sergio witnessed L.G. and F.L. engage in "pre-emptive, violent and brutal attacks" after a night of drinking. (R. 108:2). L.G. and F.L. would use unconventional weapons such as rocks and beer bottles as well as using an electrical wire used to shock bulls on one occasion. (R.108:2).

When he was 18, Sergio moved back to California with his friend Alex. (R.494:9). When Sergio and Alex arrived in the United States, L.G. picked them up at the airport. (R. 494:9). L.G. was the only person Sergio knew in California. (R.494:10). L.G. took Sergio in to hi s home, and helped Sergio get a job. (R.494:10). Over the next two years, Sergio and L.G. became even closer than cousins; they were each others' best friends, living together working together, and socializing together. (R.494:9-11).

After Sergio met his first wife, they moved back to Mexico. (R.494:11-12). In Mexico, Sergio continued to practice shooting, and took various classes at the shooting clubs where he was a member. (R.494:12-14). In these classes, Sergio received

 $\mathbf{5}$

training in a number of aspects of self-defense. (R.494:14-16). Eventually, Sergio and his wife divorced, and Sergio remarried. (R.494:17).

Mr. and Mrs. Ochoa moved back to the United States, first living in Arizona and Texas before settling in Oostburg, Wisconsin. (R.494:17-18). Mr. Ochoa had visited L.G. in Oostburg, and fell in love with the town as it was a nice community to work and raise a family. (R. 494:18). While Mr. and Ms. Ochoa were looking for their own apartment, they stayed with L.G.. (R. 494:18-19). Over the years, Mr. Ochoa and L.G. remained very close raising their families together in Oostburg; however, by the spring of 2017 L.G. had moved to Milwaukee for work and Sergio was working approximately 55 hours per week, causing them to see each other less often. (R. 494:19-30). Nonetheless, Mr. Ochoa continued to drive L.G.'s daughter to school daily throughout the 2016-2017 school year to help L.G.'s family and because their daughters were close in age. (R. 494:19-30).

As L.G. was Sergio's closest male relative living in the United States, L.G. was Mr. Ochoa's son's godfather, and Mr. Ochoa had invited L.G. to continue to be his son's godfather at his First Communion. (R. 494:32). In February of 2017, Mr. Ochoa saw L.G. ingest a powdery white substance in Mr. Ochoa's home. (R. 74:3). Mr. Ochoa believed the substance to be cocaine, and told L.G. to leave his house because he did not want drugs around his children. (R.74:3; R.494:32). After this incident, Mr. Ochoa decided L.G. would not be a good godfather to his son, and made arrangements for his father to take L.G.'s place. (R.494:33). *

In July of 2017, Mr. Ochoa's sister and her family visited Mr. Ochoa's family. (R.494:64). It was their first time visiting from Mexico despite Mr. Ochoa living in the United States for

Page 8 of 36

over a decade, and Mr. Ochoa was ecstatic to have his sister, brother-in-law and nieces and nephews visit. (R.494:64-65). On Saturday, July 29, Mr. Ochoa finished working around 2 p.m. and was excited to return home to share a meal with his extended family. (R. 494:67-68). After an early supper, Mr. Ochoa caught up with his sister, and they called their parents in Mexico. (R.494:70-72).

Around 10:30, Mr. Ochoa and his bother-in-law went to L.G.'s home to bring over L.G.'s inhaler as well as beer and rum. (R.494:77-78). A few minutes after Mr. Ochoa arrived, L.G. returned home with F.L.. (R. 494:85). Mr. Ochoa noticed L.G. seemed to be under the influence of alcohol. (R. 494:86).

L.G. was happy and excited to see Mr. Ochoa. (R.494:85). L.G. asked Mr. Ochoa to accompany him to a back bedroom, where L.G. began to inhale lines of cocaine. (R.494:88). L.G. told Mr. Ochoa to come back later that night to discuss something important. (R. 368:2). Mr. Ochoa told L.G. he could not because of his plans with his family. (R. 368:2). L.G. was adamant insisting Mr. Ochoa return as L.G. was working in Milwaukee and did not know when he would return to Oostburg. (R.368:2-3). Mr. Ochoa and his brother-in-law then drove home. (R.494:90).

Mr. Ochoa had never seen his cousin make such a serious request. (R.497:33-34). When he woke up in the middle of the night, his cousin's request kept him from going back to bed. (R. 497:34). Mr. Ochoa got dressed and got ready to drive to his cousin's house. (R.497:34-35). Due to a number of robberies in the Oostburg area and the relatively late time of night, Mr. Ochoa lawfully carried his pistol with him. (R.497:36).

When Mr. Ochoa entered his cousin's home, he saw L.G. snorting something, and F.L. "cleaning" or pinching his nose. (R.497:38-39). As Mr. Ochoa and L.G. talked, L.G. became more

Page 9 of 36

aggressive. (R.497:40). L.G. demanded to know "why the fuck [he] hadn't gone to visit him before and why the fuck [he] hadn't gone looking for him before" since L.G. had moved to Milwaukee. (R.497:41). Then L.G. demanded Mr. Ochoa explain "why the fuck [Mr. Ochoa] had decided not to have him be the godfather for [Mr. Ochoa's] son at his First Communion". (R. 497:42).

When Mr. Ochoa told L.G. the reason he had revoked his cousin's role as Sergio Jr.'s godfather was because of L.G.'s life choices and drug use, L.G. "exploded like a bomb". (R.497:42). L.G. began to exchange glances with F.L. who was opening and closing his pocketknife. (R.497:43). L.G. started to yell at Mr. Ochoa and F.L. kept yelling "you are so screwed"¹ at Mr. Ochoa. (R.497:44). Mr. Ochoa believed F.L. was treating Mr. Ochoa, threatening to kill him. (R.497:45). Mr. Ochoa tried walking around the home and deescalating the situation. (R.497:46-47). Mr. Ochoa tried to leave through the kitchen door, but couldn't turn the door knob. (R.497:50). L.G. came behind Mr. Ochoa with a knife in his hand, and yelled "where are you going". (R.497:50).

Mr. Ochoa was able to retreat to the living room. (R.497:54). F.L. loudly yelled "you're done", lifted his shirt and reached toward his waist. (R.497:57). Thinking F.L was about to draw a weapon, Mr. Ochoa drew his weapon and fired three times. (R. 497:57-8). L.G. then charged at Mr. Ochoa and lunged at Mr. Ochoa; Mr. Ochoa rotated his body and shot L.G. three or four times. (R. 497:59).

Mr. Ochoa left the residence, and intended to go directly to the Sheboygan police station. (R.497:66). He mistakenly thought the court house was the police station, and first drove there. (R.

 $^{^1}$ An alternative translation of F.L.'s commentary is "you're gonna get fucked up", or "you're fucked now". (R. 85:4-5).

Page 10 of 36

497:66). After realizing the court house was not the police station, Mr. Ochoa corrected his course and drove to the police department. (R.497:75-76). Mr. Ochoa pressed the intercom at the police station and wanted to explain who he was and what happened but was promptly arrested. (R.497:77-82).

L.G.'s son and two of his friends had been upstairs when the shooting occurred. (R.484:267). According to the son, the shooting occurred at 3:03 a.m. (R.484:272). At approximately 3:30 a.m., Sheboygan county dispatch received a 911 call indicating two individuals had been shot. (R. 481:226-289).

Deputy Chad Bauman, who had an intern riding along with him, was dispatched to the scene of the shooting, and was the first member of law enforcement to arrive. (R.482:15-17). Deputy Baumann made contact with a witness J.G. and subsequently entered the house. (R.482:24). Another witness with the initials J.G. was also in the house. (R.482:55). Both entered the residence with Deputy Baumann. (R.482:25). Shortly thereafter, a third individual used the back entry to enter the scene. (R. 482:40).

The Sheboygan County Sheriff's Department did not have a standard operating procedure for searching a shooting scene; officers were trying to figure out how to investigate the scene as they were investigating the scene. (R. 487:165). Likewise, the department lacked a standard operating procedure detailing how to move a body. (R. 486:295). Deputy Krogstad could not remember how many times L.G.'s body had been moved before it was removed from the scene. (R.486:296-96). Deputy Krogstad failed to report he or anyone else moved the body, despite doing so. (R.486:296-97). Deputy Krogstad failed to photograph how the body was initially found. (R.486:297). Deputy Weber testified officers found drug paraphernalia, but he and Captain

Norlander "determined" it was not a factor and so they did not collect the paraphernalia as evidence. (R. 487:191). When an expert was asked to reconstruct the crime scene, he determined it would be impossible due to the possible contamination problems, the lack of logical progression of officers search, and the improper documentation of stains, and bullet holes. (R.487:70). The State did not present an expert witness who attempted to provide a reconstruction of the scene; a State Trooper provided 3-D imaging of the scene after the witnesses had moved about the scene and law enforcement had already moved the bodies, altering the scene.

Procedural History

Mr. Ochoa was arrested when he presented himself at the police department. A criminal complaint charging him with two counts of First Degree Intentional Homicide was filed on August 8, 2017. (R. 4:1). A preliminary hearing was held on August 28, 2017. The circuit court found there was probable cause, and Mr. Ochoa was bound over. (R. 458:58).

Mr. Ochoa gave notice of nine expert witnesses it expected to testify. (R. 84:1-3) Three of the witnesses were also named by the state. (R. 84:1). One witness was employed by the state of Wisconsin Laboratory of Hygiene. (R.84:1). The State raised relevancy and *Daubert* challenges to the other six defense experts. (R.100:1-10; R.147:1-7). After conducting two days of *Daubert* hearings, the circuit court determined it would not let Mr. Marty Hayes, Mr. Alfonso Villaseñor, or Mr. Conrad Zvara testify. (R.477: 34-35, 38).

Mr. Ochoa also sought to introduce *McMorris* evidence. (R.107; R.108:1-3). The circuit court determined it would not allow the *McMorris* evidence to be presented. (R.477:24-30). The case proceeded to trial, and Mr. Ochoa was acquitted of both counts of First Degree Intentional Homicide and Second Degree Intentional Homicide, but was convicted of two lesser included counts of First Degree Reckless Homicide.convicted of two counts of first degree reckless homicide. (R.394:1; R.395:1). Mr. Ochoa was sentenced on March 13, 2020. On each count, the circuit court imposed 12.5 years incarceration and five years of extended supervision to be served consecutively. (R.435:1). Mr. Ochoa filed a timely notice of appeal on March 20, 2020. (R. 442:1-2). A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 24, 2020. (R.452:1)

Argument

Mr. Ochoa has never denied he caused the death of his cousin L.G. and his friend F.L. The only factual dispute at trial was if Mr. Ochoa acted in self-defense, and if he did, was his belief reasonable. The circuit court's rulings prevented Mr. Ochoa from pursuing his defense, as the circuit court would not permit him to testify about the violent acts he had witnessed F.L. and L.G. commit which informed his beliefs regarding the threat they posed and the necessity of using deadly force to, would not allow Mr. Ochao to testify as to what L.G. told him which caused Mr. Ochoa to return to L.G.'s residence in the early morning hours, as well as presenting expert testimony to inform the jury of the most accurate interpretations of the slang threats F.L. was yelling which caused Mr. Ochoa to believe he was in great physical danger. The circuit court further refused to allow Mr. Ochoa to present experts in his defense which would inform the jury on both the principles and dynamics of using deadly force in violent or potentially violent so a jury would not misunderstand those principle and dynamics when determining the reasonableness of Mr. Ochoa's beliefs and actions. Lastly, when the circuit court was asked to fully instruct the jury on the statutory definition of self-defense, the circuit court refused to abide by the legislature's will, and established case law, and chose to instruct the jury on the law as to the central issue in the case, self-defense, which omitted the statutory definition of the actor's reasonable belief.

I. <u>There Are Few Rights More Fundamental Than the Right of</u> an Accused to Present Evidence in Their Own Defense. When the Circuit Court Precluded Mr. Ochoa From Presenting <u>McMorris Evidence, Expert Witness, and Non-Hearsay</u> Testimony, the Circuit Court Violated Mr. Ochoa's <u>Constitutional Rights.</u>

A. Legal Overview and Standard of Review

The fundamental right to present evidence is grounded in the confrontation and compulsory process clauses of Article I. Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution² and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution³. See State v. *Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645-647, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990); Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 17-19 (1967); Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403-06 (1965). These two clauses are the opposing side of the same coin; together they grant defendants a constitutional right to present evidence. State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d at 645. Like many constitutional rights, the right to present evidence is not absolute; a defendant is only guaranteed the right to present relevant evidence which is not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. *Pulizzano* at 646. Whether a defendant has been deprived of a fundamental constitutional right is a question of constitutional fact which appellate courts determine independently of the lower courts. State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50 ¶16, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777 (2002).

In *McMorris v. State*, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held when there is a sufficient factual basis to raise the issue of self-

 $^{^2}$ "In all criminal prosecutions the assumed shall enjoy the right...to meet the witnesses face to face; [and] to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf".

³ "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the witnesses against him; [and] to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor..."

defense, the defendants personal knowledge of the victims prior violent character and acts is admissible. *McMorris v. State*, 58 Wis. 2d 144, 150, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973). *McMorris* evidence is effectively other-acts evidence. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has established a five part test for demonstrating a defendant has the constitutional right to present other acts evidence. The defendant must show:

- 1. The prior acts clearly occurred;
- 2. The acts closely resembled those of the present case;
- 3. The prior act is clearly relevant to a material issue;
- 4. The evidence is necessary to the defendant's case;
- 5. The probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect

Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d at 651.

Likewise, our Supreme Court has established a four part test to determine if a defendant has the constitutional right to present an expert's testimony. The defendant must show:

- The testimony of the expert witness met the standards of Wis. Stat. §907.02 governing the admission of expert testimony;
- 2. The experts witness's testimony was clearly relevant to a material issue in this case;
- 3. The expert witness's testimony was necessary to the defendant's case;
- 4. The probative value of the testimony outweighs its prejudicial effect.

State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50 ¶54

When there is a state evidentiary rule which would exclude the evidence at question, strict scrutiny is applied. *Pulizzano* at 28.⁴ When a defendant has been denied their constitutional right to present evidence necessary to their defense, the harmless error rule is inapplicable. *Pulizzano* at 655-656; *see also State v. St. George*, 2002 WI ¶¶69-73 (The constitutional right to present a defense is a two part inquiry; was the proffered evidence and admissible, and if so is the right outweighed by any compelling state interest. Harmless error is not considered.).

B. <u>The Circuit Court's Refusal To Allow Mr. Ochoa to Present</u> <u>McMorris Evidence Deprived Him of his Constitutional</u> <u>Right To Present a Defense</u>

McMorris evidence is essentially other-acts evidence which is offered against the victim to allow the jury to evaluate the reasonableness of the defendant's beliefs the aggressor posed a threat of death or great bodily harm to his person, and the defendant's need to use force to terminate the unlawful interference against him. Both categories of evidence seek to admit prior wrong doings for a limited, permissible purpose. ("[P]roof should be admitted as to both the reputation of the

⁴ After Pulizzano was decided the United States Supreme Court has stated state and federal rule-makers have broad latitude in establishing rules excluding evidence in criminal trial, and a defendant's rights are abridged by rules which infringe upon the weighty interest of the accused, and are arbitrary or disproportionate. United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998), Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006). The multi-factor tests endorsed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court are not in conflict with the most recent writings of the United States Supreme Court; they are simply the test our State Supreme Court has adopted to determine if the defendant has a weighty interest, and if the rule excluding the evidence is arbitrary or disproportionate. While the Supreme Courts usage of the terms "arbitrary" and "disproportionate" are more commonly seen in applications of rationalbasis or intermediate scrutiny, the Pulizzano court was correct: confrontation and compulsory rights are fundamental rights, and fundamental rights are subject to strict scrutiny. see, e.g., Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 302 (1993); Clark v. Jeter, 486 U.S. 456, 461 (1988); Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626, 651 n.14 (1985); Perry Educ. Ass'n v. Perry Local Educators' Ass'n, 460 U.S. 37, 54 (1983); Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618, 638 (1969).

Page 17 of 36

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