Page 1 of 42

**FILED** 07-13-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP1981-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SERGIO MOISES OCHOA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA L. PERSICK, **PRESIDING** 

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

It is true that the circuit court sustained certain objections to defense counsel's questioning during Ochoa's testimony. For example, the State objected to defense counsel asking Ochoa what time Garcia insisted he come back, and the circuit court sustained the objection. (R. 497:32.) Similarly, the court sustained an objection to defense counsel asking Ochoa why Garcia said he wanted Ochoa to return.<sup>8</sup> (R. 497:32.) Meanwhile, the court overruled objections to a question about Garcia's demeanor when he told Ochoa to return and why Ochoa did not tell his wife about where he was going in the middle of the night and why. (R. 497:33–34.) But Ochoa does not develop an argument as to why any of these decisions were erroneous.<sup>9</sup> This Court should decline to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ochoa later testified that when he returned to Garcia's that night, Garcia asked why Ochoa had not visited him and why Ochoa did not want Garcia to be godfather to his children. (R. 497:41–42.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Moreover, there appears to be nothing in the record indicating what the actually excluded statements were, *i.e.*, what time Garcia told Ochoa to return or what Garcia told Ochoa he wanted to discuss. On the latter point, Ochoa claimed that Garcia

develop an argument for him. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

In short, the statements that Ochoa claims were excluded were not, in fact, excluded. And Ochoa fails to develop any argument related to any of the statements that actually were excluded. He does not, for example, explain how he was supposedly prejudiced by not being allowed to testify what time Garcia told him to come back or what specifically Garcia wanted to discuss. Instead, he claims that he was forbidden from explaining himself. (Ochoa's Br. 30.) He was not. The court allowed Ochoa to explain that Garcia told him

was upset because Ochoa did not want Garcia to act as godfather to his children. (R. 497:42.) Both parties discussed this at length in their closing arguments. (R. 499:141–45, 186–88.) Thus, to the extent Ochoa might claim that he was forbidden from explaining to the jury what Garcia wanted to discuss when Ochoa came back, the record shows otherwise.

Ochoa also references "an offer of proof which was not captured by the court record." (Ochoa's Br. 28.) It is the appellant's duty to ensure a complete record. See State v. McAttee, 2001 WI App 262, ¶ 5 n.1, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774. This Court should therefore decline to speculate as to what the offer of proof might have contained. Even so, however, Ochoa cites a portion of the transcript that includes the following statement by defense counsel:

[C]learly we've articulated in one of the most comprehensive offers of proof I think one can give, is the entire content of the conversation between [Garcia] and [Ochoa] that occurred at the house and its subsequent effect on the listener, [Ochoa], why he went back is because [Garcia] insisted that he come back and it was something that [Garcia] had never been so insistent about before.

(R. 494:98-99.)

As discussed, the court concluded that both Garcia's request that Ochoa return later in the evening and the abnormality of that request were admissible. Nothing indicates that the offer of proof might have contained anything relevant beyond those two points.

to come back that night and that Garcia seemed to have something important to discuss with him. (R. 497:32–34.)

Indeed, while Ochoa points to the State's closing argument as evidence that he was denied the right to explain himself, the State's closing argument discussed Ochoa's testimony about Garcia wanting him to return:

The defendant claims that when he went to the Garcia residence July 29, [Garcia] was saying, I need you to return because there's something so important. And the defendant said he'd never seen [Garcia] talking in this manner of having something so important, so it caused the defendant a feeling he needed to return. It was important to return. In fact, it was an issue that was so significant that it woke him from his sleep.

(R. 499:142.) Ochoa's problem was not that the court did not allow him to explain himself to the jury. Ochoa's problem was that his story strained credibility. The State rightly pointed this out: why would Ochoa get up in the middle of the night, put his phone in airplane mode, and drive to Garcia's house while armed simply to have a conversation with Garcia about Garcia acting as Ochoa's son's godfather? (R. 499:143.) Contrary to Ochoa's argument, the State was not taking advantage of improperly excluded evidence in its closing. Rather, the State gave a full and fair summary of the evidence and properly pointed out the flaws in Ochoa's story.

With no argument developed that the circuit court improperly excluded any non-hearsay statements as hearsay, this Court should conclude that the circuit court's hearsay determinations were proper and affirm Ochoa's conviction.

## C. Any error the circuit court may have made by excluding hearsay evidence was harmless.

The exclusion of evidence on hearsay grounds is subject to harmless error analysis. *See State v. Anderson*, 141 Wis. 2d 653, 669, 416 N.W.2d 276 (1987). "To determine whether an

error is harmless, this court inquires whether the State can prove 'beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error[]." *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60,  $\P$  23, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77 (citation omitted).

Here, even if this Court concludes that the circuit court improperly excluded evidence as hearsay during Ochoa's testimony, it should still affirm because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This is so because the facts Ochoa apparently wished to testify to—that Garcia wanted to discuss his status as godfather to Ochoa's children—came in through Ochoa's testimony anyways. (R. 497:41–43.) The jury thus had access to all of the information Ochoa believed they should have had access to during deliberations. The outcome clearly would have been the same even if the circuit court had overruled the State's hearsay objections, and this Court should affirm.

## III. The circuit court properly instructed the jury on the privilege of self-defense, so the jury instructions did not violate Ochoa's constitutional rights.

# A. Circuit courts have broad discretion in instructing juries.

"[A] circuit court has broad discretion in deciding whether to give a particular jury instruction." *State v. Fonte*, 2005 WI 77, ¶ 9, 281 Wis. 2d 654, 698 N.W.2d 594. "A circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it fully and fairly informs the jury of the law that applies to the charges for which a defendant is tried." *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 9, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187. "The purpose of a jury instruction is to fully and fairly inform the jury of a rule or principle of law applicable to a particular case." *State v. Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92, ¶ 26, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839 (quoting *Nommensen*, 246 Wis. 2d 132, ¶ 36).

In determining whether a jury instruction accurately stated the law, this Court must "review the jury instructions as a whole to determine whether the overall meaning communicated by the instructions was a correct statement of the law." State v. Langlois, 2018 WI 73, ¶ 38, 382 Wis. 2d 414, 913 N.W.2d 812 (quoting Dakter v. Cavallino, 2015 WI 67, ¶ 32, 363 Wis. 2d 738, 866 N.W.2d 656); see also State v. Neumann, 2013 WI 58, ¶ 139, 348 Wis. 2d 455, 832 N.W.2d 560 (appellate courts view "jury instructions in light of the proceedings as a whole and do not review a single instruction in isolation"). "If the jury instructions did not accurately state the law, then the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion." State v. McKellips, 2016 WI 51, ¶ 30, 369 Wis. 2d 437, 881 N.W.2d 258.

"Although they are not infallible, [this Court] generally consider[s] the pattern instructions 'persuasive' on the points of law they state." *In Interest of D.P.*, 170 Wis. 2d 313, 332 n.7, 488 N.W.2d 133 (Ct. App. 1992).

This case involves a claim of self-defense, which is an affirmative defense. Importantly, although ultimately the burden of proof and persuasion falls to the State, the defendant has the burden of *production* regarding his or her affirmative defenses. *See Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 640. In other words, "it is necessary for a defendant to come forward with some evidence of the . . . defense to warrant the jury's consideration of the issue." *Id*.

Two types of self-defense justifications exist in Wisconsin law: (1) the use of necessary force, called "perfect self-defense," and (2) the use of unnecessary force, called "imperfect self-defense." *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 45.

To obtain an instruction on perfect self-defense, the defendant must point to "some evidence" to show he held an objectively reasonable belief that the amount of force was necessary to prevent or terminate what he believed to be an unlawful interference with his person. Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1); Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 67. "In these circumstances," a defendant "has to meet the same 'some'-evidence standard, but [his] evidence would be measured against an objective reasonable threshold." Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 125. If proven, perfect self-defense is a privilege to a homicide charge. Wis. Stat. § 939.45(2). "Once the defendant successfully raises an affirmative defense, the state is required to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt." Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 106.

A defendant is entitled to an imperfect self-defense instruction if there is "some evidence" to show he held a subjective belief that he was in danger of great bodily harm, regardless of whether his belief was reasonable. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 124; Wis. Stat. § 940.01(2)(b). If proven, imperfect self-defense mitigates first-degree intentional homicide to second-degree intentional homicide. Wis. Stat. § 940.01(2)(b).

# B. The circuit court properly declined to instruct the jury with Wis. JI-Criminal 805.

Wisconsin JI–Criminal 1016 and Wis. JI–Criminal 805 serve different purposes. Wisconsin JI–Criminal 1016 provides instructions for first-degree intentional homicide with the lesser included offenses of second-degree intentional homicide and first-degree reckless homicide and explains the interplay of the self-defense privilege with those crimes. Wisconsin JI–Criminal 805, on the other hand, provides instructions for self-defense more generally, as a privilege to both homicide and non-homicide crimes.

The text of Wis. JI–Criminal 1016 instructs the jury on the elements of first degree intentional homicide and its relationship to the lesser included offenses of second degree intentional homicide and first degree reckless homicide. Wis. JI–Criminal 1016. The instruction then summarizes the self-

defense privilege<sup>10</sup> and explains how the concept of selfdefense fits in to each of the homicide offenses. It explains that an "unreasonable belief" that force was necessary sometimes called "imperfect self-defense"—can reduce an offense from first degree intentional homicide to second degree intentional homicide. Then it explains the interplay between self-defense evidence and first-degree reckless homicide. Wis. JI-Criminal 1016. A defendant is guilty of first-degree reckless homicide if he caused the death of another "by criminally reckless conduct and circumstances of the conduct showed utter disregard for human life." *Id*. The instruction directs the jury to consider the self-defense evidence presented when weighing whether the "utter disregard" element is met, i.e., "what the defendant was doing; why the defendant was engaged in that conduct; how dangerous the conduct was; how obvious the danger was; [and] whether the conduct showed any regard for life." *Id*.

Wisconsin JI–Criminal 1016 thus correctly sets forth the law of self-defense as it relates to first degree intentional homicide, second degree intentional homicide, first degree reckless homicide, and self-defense in Wisconsin. See Wis. Stat. §§ 939.48, 940.01(2)(b), 940.02(1) 940.05; see also State v. Burris, 2011 WI 32, ¶ 64, 333 Wis. 2d 87, 797 N.W.2d 430

Wis. JI–Criminal 1016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Criminal Code of Wisconsin provides that a person is privileged to intentionally use force against another for the purpose of preventing or terminating what (he) (she) reasonably believes to be an unlawful interference with (his) (her) person by the other person. However, (he) (she) may intentionally use only such force as (he) (she) reasonably believes is necessary to prevent or terminate the interference. (He) (She) may not intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death unless (he) (she) reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to (himself) (herself).

(recommending that Wis. JI-Criminal 1016 be revised to include language regarding "utter disregard for human life" and warning against supplementing the instruction with other language "taken out of context").

Wisconsin JI-Criminal 805, on the other hand, instructs a jury only on the absolute privilege of self-defense, sometimes called "perfect self-defense," as a defense to any crime where the defendant has used force intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm. See Wis. JI-Criminal 805. The instruction explains that "[a] belief may be reasonable even though mistaken" while Wis. JI-Criminal 1016 does not. It is true that a reasonable belief will not always be a correct belief: a person may reasonably believe what is not actually the case. 11 However, the ultimate issue under Wisconsin's law of self-defense is not whether a person's beliefs are "correct" or "mistaken," but rather whether those beliefs are reasonable and thereby excused or justified. See Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 79; Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1). That is exactly what Wis. JI-Criminal 1016 provides.

Here, the circuit court determined that the jury would be instructed on first degree intentional homicide as well as on the lesser included offenses of second degree intentional homicide and first degree reckless homicide, and how it should consider any claim of self-defense within those homicide charges. <sup>12</sup> (R. 499:87–89.) Thus, Wis. JI–Criminal 1016 properly described the legal issues confronting the jury as it weighed the evidence against Ochoa. The circuit court properly issued Wis. JI–Criminal 1016 to the jury, and it

<sup>11</sup> For example, one may reasonably, but mistakenly, believe that a firearm held by an assailant is loaded.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Although Ochoa objected to the jury receiving instructions on lesser included offenses at trial, he has not renewed the issue on appeal.

properly declined to instruct the jury beyond that. See Ferguson, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 9 (a circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it issues a jury instruction that accurately describes the law); Burris, 333 Wis. 2d 87, ¶ 64.

Ochoa argues that it was error for the court to instruct the jury only with Wis. JI–Criminal 1016 because Wis. JI–Criminal 805 states the law set out in Wis. Stat. § 939.22(32). (Ochoa's Br. 32–33.) However, Ochoa does not argue now, nor did he argue to the circuit court when requesting Wis. JI–Criminal 805, that there was some "mistaken belief" that would make Wis. JI–Criminal 805 relevant. (Ochoa's Br. 32–34; R. 499:85–87.) As the party requesting it, Ochoa had the burden of production to show that the language in Wis. JI–Criminal 805 was appropriate in the context of the facts of the case. *See Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 640. He failed to meet that burden, so the circuit court properly denied his request.

Moreover, as discussed, Wis. JI–Criminal 1016 accurately states the law with respect to self-defense in Wisconsin. Simply because it does not elaborate to the same extent as another jury instruction does not make it incorrect. And where a circuit court issues a jury instruction that accurately states the law, the court has properly exercised its discretion. *See Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 9.

# C. Any error in the jury instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Even if this Court concludes that the circuit court erroneously declined to issue the Wis. JI–Criminal 805 language to the jury, this Court should still affirm because the

<sup>13</sup> Wisconsin Stat. § 939.22(32) defines "reasonably believes": "Reasonably believes' means that the actor believes that a certain fact situation exists and such belief under the circumstances is reasonable even though erroneous."

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